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ABSTRACT

Colonia Solana neighborhood in Tucson, Arizona was
designed in 1928 by landscape architect Stephen Child.

The use of native plants and topography as the basis for
the site plan was unusual in 1928, and also has
applicability today as the basis for an ecologically
sound, sglf~sustaining landscape. Factors influencing
Tucson's early development were examined as the background
of this subdivision,.

Thus Colonia Solana neighborhood, the last work known
to have been designed by Child prior to his death in 1936,
became the starting point for ingueries into the life and
other works of the landscape architect.

It was discovered that Stephen Child (1866-1936) was
not only a landscape architect, and one of the early
advocates for the use of native plants; he was also a
charter member of the American City Planning Institute in
1917. His works in Boston, Santa Barbara, San Francisco,

and Tucson were documented.



CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

On a cool spring morning in 1990, the tangled
undergrowth of urban forest gradually awakens to the
intermittent twitterings of bird calls. As the sun
emerges from behind lavender-hued méuntains, the bird
sounds increase, rising gradually to a chattering
crescendo just before noon.

Can this half-mile stretch of urban arroyo really be
in the center of a city of over 400,000 population? Was
it just a fortuitous accident which led traditional
gridiron development to bypass this area, as Tucson's
urban sprawl gradually developed around it?

Quite the contrary, as research would later prove.
Colonia Solana neighborhood was designed in 1927 by
landscape architect Stephen Child. The use of native
plants and the existing topography as the foundation for
the design are the two primary features which distinguish
Colonia Solana from other residential subdivisions, not
only in Tucson, but across the country as well. These are
the features which distinguished Colonia Solana from other
developments in 1928, and have contributed to its survival
as an ecologically-sound, self-sustaining landscape in

13990.



Realizing that Stephen Child had intended this
subdivision to become "a little piece of the desert" 1led
to other questions about him. Who was San Francisco
landscape architect Stephen Child? What other works had
he done? Did other designs by Child also incorporate the
use of native plants?

Searching for the answers to these questions has led
to the conclusion that Stephen Child was a visionary
landscape architect and city planner. As a city planner,
Child was able to see a broader picture than many during
his time, yet he did not overlook the details required to
achieve the goal. As an unrecognized pioneer in the use
of native plants, his designs conseqguently have the
capacity to become self-sustaining landscapes. As a
self-proclaimed disciple of Frederick Law Olmsted, Child
relied heavily on the use of topcgraphy as a guide to
design. His particular talent lay in his ability to
combine the particular topography and native plants, in
order to discern the genius loci of the site, and
subsequently to enhance it.

Unfortuﬂately, Child has been largely ignored, due to
the scarcity of his work. Stephen Child left few
footprints, yet his designs and philosohpy can serve as a
model of ecological validity for those who come after him.

The objective of this thesis is to document the life and



work of landscape architect Stephen Child.

In order to better understand tﬁe place of Colonia
Solana neighborhood within Tucson's history, it is
necessary to first understand the influences on the early

growth and development of Tucson.

EARLY TUCSON

Three major factors contributed to the urbanization of
Tucson between 1880 and 1930: the rallroad, tuberculosis,
and tourism. Agriculture and mining also contributed to
the population growth in southern Arizona, but primarily

in the rural areas surrounding Tucson (Bufkin, 1981).

THE RAILROAD

With the coming of the Southern Pacific in 1880, and
its population at 7,007, (Historical Commission, 1979),
Tucson was at last connected to the west coast by rail,
the premier mode of travel in that era. This "“watershed
in Tucson's history..." changed the landscape of the city.
No longer were "flat facades flush with the street" the
norm for residential areas. Houses were set back,
separated from the street by green lawns, and began to be

constructed of bricks and wood, now avallable at



10
reasonable prices on the new railroad. Armory Park, a new
neighborhood, grew up south of the tracks in the next two
decades--a direct result of the Southern Pacific (Bret
Harte, 1981;.

By 1894 the Southern Pacific Railroad had inaugurated
the Sunset Limited, which courted the affluentwinter
tourist. Operating between New Orleans and San Francisco
from November through April, it passed directly through
Tucson (Myrick, 1975). Another promotional tool used by
the Southern Pacific to encourage Western travel was the
initiation of Sunset Magazine in 1898 (Myrick, 1975).
Articles about the West were the focus, including several
about famous author Harold Bell Wright, who had moved to
Tucson to recover from tuberculosis (Myrick, 1975; Tagg,
1986). Tucson newpaperwoman Bernice Cosulich was the
author of several of these articles.

Between 1910 and 1912, when the population had
expanded to 13,125 and covered ten square miles
(Historical Commission, 1979), two other ralilroad lines
were added to Tucson which had later, indirect connections
to changes in the local landscape. In 1910 the Southern
Pacific added a line between Tucson and Nogales, thus
putting "...Tucson at the head of an international
ralliroad" (Bret Harte, 1980): However, the Mexican

revolution broke out just months after this line was
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completed, which essentially negated the role of Tucson on
international commerce. Epes Randelph, a vice president
of the Southern Pacific who had come to Tucson for his
health, "was primarily responsible for building the rail
line from Tucson to Nogales, thus giving the Southern
Pacific a monopoly on the southwestern Territory" (Bret
Harte, 1980).

In 1912 another rail line was added to Tucson. Walter
Douglas, president of Phelps-Dodge Corporation in Blsbee,
was lured into running his El Paso and Southwestern line
to Tucson. It was the responsibility of the railroad to
build the local station, as well as to lay the track. As
Bret Harte notes, "Built in 13512, El Paso and Southwestern
Railroad depot was one of the most handsome of Tucson's
public buildings. It stood behind a charming little park
full of rare trees and shrubs (1980, p. 99). This small

park was designed by Santa Barbara landscape architect

Camillo Franceschi, who was brought to Arizona by Mr. and
Mrs. Walter Douglas (Myrick, 1975).

The Douglas family was one of the many wealthy
families from all over the country that either wintered
(if they were from the East), or summered (if they were
from the Southwest) in fashlonable Santa Barbara during
the early twentlieth century (Santa Barbara Morning Press,

May 8, 1908 and Sonnichsen, 1982). David Myrick comments
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that, "Mr. and Mrs. Walter Douglas, especially interested
in creating an attractive garden, employed the services of
Cammillo Fenzi (who later changed his name to Franceschi),
a Santa Barbara landscape architect who spent the better
part of six months in Tucson and Douglas (where he had a
similar assignment)" (1975, p. 237). This established not
only a physical connection between the two cities, but a
cultural 1link as well. 1In designing the park adjacent to
the El Paso and Southwestern Railroad statlon, Franceschi
became the first landscape architect known to have
contributed to Tucson's cultural landscape.

A later cultural connection between Tucson, Santa
Barbara, and Bisbee occurred in 1924 when two young
journalists took over the Daily Star. Editor Ralph
Ellinwood was the son of E. E. Ellinwood, a prosperous
and prominent Phelps Dodge attorney. The other partner,
William R. Matthews, had been recruited from his position
as business manager of the Santa Barbara Morning Press.
New York-born Clare Ellinwood, described by Sonnichsen as
"intelligent and competent", took over as copublisher,
after her husband's untimely death in 1930 (Sonnichsen,

1382).
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TUBERCULCSIS

Although the coming of the railroad had been greeted
with much revelry, some of its passengers were not as
warmly received. Victims of tuberculosis, often referred
to locally as "lungers"", came to Tucson for the benetits
of the mild, dry climate (Bret Harte, 1980). Tucson was a
winter haven for consumptives as early as 1880; however,
"the availability of quick, cheap transportation on the
railroad, of course, brought the influx" (Kimmelman,
1987). By 1920 Tucson's tubercular population had reached
almost 7000, nearly a third the population of the whole
city (Bret Harte, 15980).

Segregated from the rest of the clty both because of
the nature of their illness, and because most were also
poverty-stricken, many of the tuberculosis victims lived
in Tentville, a primitive community north of the
University of Arizona. After World War I, the federal
government became involved in the fight against
tuberculosis. This led eventually to the building of the
Veterans Administration Hospital in 1928 (Bret Harte,
1980) and the founding of the private Desert Sanatorium
(now Tucson Medical Center) by Dr. B. L. Wyatt, in 1926
(Bret Harte, 1980).

Not all tuberculosis victims were destitute, however.

Nationally known novelist Harold Bell Wright made Tucson
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his home from 1915 to 1936, in order to regain his health.
Biographer Lawrence Tagg (1986) paints a picture of Wright
as "a gentle, simple man with a great understanding of the
public taste in fiction". Although his popularity and
fame have not survived, he was, during the Twenties,
considered "a minister in print" to the millions who
bought his books, often through the Sears Roebuck catalog
(Tagg, 15986).

Because Wright preferred the simple life of his Tucson
estate, reporters who wanted to interview him had to trek-
to Tucson to do so. They often marvelled not only at the
simplicity of his lifestyle, but at his rustic
surroundings as well (Meehan, 1925). By 1931, an
interview in the Boston Evening Transcript commented that
"He lives out on the desert east of Tucson in southern
Arizona, where a great many perfectly good Bostonians who
will go to Parls when they die are putting in a few
winters before departing for the banks of the Seine...It
is a remarkable corner of the United States...that is
surpassed only by Southern California" (Arnold, 1931).

Once cured, Harold Bell Wright devoted much of his
energy to helping less fortunate tubercular victims.

Among his efforts was the dramatization of his immensely
popular novel, The Shepherd of the Hills, which he

personally directed. Salt of the Farth, a play with a
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Tucson setting, went on tour in the East in 1921. The
publication of his article, "Why I did not die," an
account of recovery from tuberculdsis, in American
Magazine (1924), also attracted national attention to
Tucson (Bret Harte, 1580).

Wright also volunteered his time as a board member of
the newly formed Desert Sanatorium (1926). Landscaping
for the éanatorium had been started by F. J. Crider, a
former professor in the College of Agriculture and
director of the Boyce Thompson Southwestern Arboretum.
When Crider became ill, the landscape was finished by
Wright and Rutger Porter, a young man who later became a
nurseryman in Tucson. Porter was also the nephew of
Wright's New York publisher, Rutger Bleeker Porter.
Wright is credited with "planning and directing the
landscaping" in 1928: "The end result was one of the most
beautiful and complete cactus gardens in the world.
People came to the San just to view the gardens" (Grubb,
1984). 1In Portrait of Progress: A Story of Tucson Medical
Center there are three photographs of saguaro cacti being
moved from Wright's property to the grounds of the
Sanatorium, using the modified truck Wright had invented
for this purpose (Grubb, 1984, p. 24).

Another article with national distribution called

attention to Harold Bell Wright and Tucson. Published, in
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Better Homes and Gardens (November, 1927), '"Harold Bell
Wright in his garden", described his quarter-section
estate east of the city (now at Speedway and Wilmot).
Landscaped almost entirely with native plants, (except the
courtyard area) the author refers to it tongue-in-cheek
as "the lazy man's garden" (Drachman, 1927). She
describes, even romanticizes, many indigenous plants, and
Wright's methods of caring for them. What Eastern
resident, facing the prospect of another cold, gloomy
winter, could have resisted the lure to the sunny
Southwest which author Rosemary Drachman presented?

"Truly, it looks like a lazy man's garden. The dozen
or so glant cacti...which lead the eye so inevitably
across the valley to the mountains, the tall lovely fluted
column of the sahuaro by the gate, the clumps of prickly
pears, ocotillos and yuccas underneath the windows...are
all placed with such artistic carelessness that it seems
as if, 1like Topsy, they 'just growed'...as for the wild
tlowers, one can scarcely put one's foot down without
crushing a blossom." (Drachman, 1%27, p. 13)
TOURISM

By 1920, with a population of nearly 20,000; Tucson
was facing economic stagnation. With the decline in
mining and agriculture in the post-World War I recession,

the Southern Pacific Railroad had become the city's
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largest employer, but had no plans for expansion. "Two of
the city's few obvious assets in 1920..." were
"...Tucson's location on an important transcontinental
rail line and its splendid winter climate...{(Kimmelman,
1987). Seeking ways to detain those passing through, as
well as to lure new visitors to Tucson, became the focus
of an intensive advertising effort, patterned after that
used by several southern California communities .

As early as 1913, the Chamber of Commerce had
occasionally advertised in Sunset Magazine. 1In 1923 the
Tucson Sunshine Climate Club was formed, with its "only
goal to publicize the city as a winter vacation spot"
(Kimmelman, 1987). Ads targeted national magazines such
as Outlook, National Geographic, the Ladies Home Journal,
and the Journal of the American Medical Association, as
well as large metropolitan newspapers in St. Louis,
Detroit, and Boston. The focus was to change Tucson's
image from a town of sick and recovering tubercular
patients to that of a healthy environment for active
people,

The success of the tourist campaign (nearly 1000
visitors in its first season) generated two new demands,
housing and entertainment. 1In 1925, there were fewer than
500 hotel beds in Tucson; by 1930, this number had

increased to almost 1800 beds. The Santa Rita (completed
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in 1904) remained the premier downtown hotel, and was
joined by the Coronado, Catalina, El Presidio, Pioneer,
and Geronimo Hotels, all built in the 1920's (Kimmelman,
perscnal communication, September 30, 1990).

With all the tourists arriving for the winter months,
a focus of activity was needed. Building on Tucson's
"western" image, the first La Fiesta de los Vagqueros was
staged in February, 1925. Under the leadership of the
newly-formed Arizona Polo Association, the rodeo was the
culmination of only ten months of incredible work and
co-operation among numerous clvic organizations 2. It was
so successful in attracting visitors that the "... Citizen
issued a quarter-page ad calling for 'volunteers' to
provide rooms for tourists" just days before the rodeo
festivities began (Kimmelman, 1987). The success of the
first rodeo accentuated the need for more housing, and

housing of a different kind. .

THE EL CONQUISTADOR HOTEL

Within three months after the first rodeo, the
Chamber of Commerce Hotel Committee had been charged with
building a first-class resort hotel. Fundraising began
immediately, under the direction of committee chairman
Levi Manning, and by July, 1925, Tucson architect Henzy O.

Jaasted had been hired "...to design a building of brick
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and concrete in the Spanish Mission style, and to
landscape the grounds with native Arizona vegetation"
(Kimmelman, 1987).

More than three years latexr, construction of the grand
hotel was completed by local land developer John Murphey.
Finally opening in November, 1928, after numerous
financial problems, the El Conguistador Hotel was
"...sumptuous and elegant...attracting the wealthy and the
famous" (Bret Harte, 1980). In spite of its elegance
however, the grand hotel was never a financial success.
Open only during the winter season, and with just 70 guest
rooms, it was bankrupt by 1935. After several
intermediate reorganizations, also unsuccessful, the hotel
finally "...fell to 'progress' in the guise of a wrecker's
ball..." in 1969 (Bret Harte, 1980). El Con shopping
center, anchored by Levy's department store, replaced the
40 year Tucson landmark.

As the 1920's drew to a close, Tucson's economic
atmosphere had changed from bleak to booming. With the
help of the rallroad, and with the dedicated drive of many
local boosters, Tucson's economy had expanded at a faster
rate than it ever had before. Based largely on tourism
and health-related issues, Tucson had literally
"capitalized on its climate". This period of great

optimism and economic expansion was marked by the building
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of at least half a dozen downtown hotels; the kickoff of
Tucson's rodeo (1925); the construction of the first arté
center, the Temple of Music and Art (1928); the dedication
of Randolph Park to the city (1925); and the building of
several hospitals (1926, 1928). The period was so
prosperous that Sonnichsen (1982) has labeled it "The
Gold-plated Decade".

In many ways the opening of the El Conquistador Hotel
was the culmination of the dreams, cooperation and hard
work of this gold-plated decade. It was a physical
representation of Tourism, which would become the mainstay
of Tucson's economy for the next several decades.
Emanating an elegance that was Tucson's ideal, the hotel
also opened the eastern frontier of Tucson to new
development.

During the three year construction period of the
hotel, Tucson's dream had spawned other dreams of
development. The site chosen for the El Conquistador,
"120 acres a little east of Country Club Road and a little
north of Broadway, in what then was open desert" (Bret
Harte, 1980), had focused the attention of local land
speculators on the eastern outskirts of Tucson. Two new
subdivisions were being platted in close proximity to the
hotel during the constructon of the El1 Conquistador

(Figure 1).
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DEVELOPMENT

Colonia Solana (recorded in April, 1928) and El
Encanto Estates (recorded in 1929) neighborhoods can in
several ways be considered "twins". Not only were they
being conceived during the same period in Tucson's
history, but they also targeted a similar client, the
well~to-do homeowner, people of "means". In order to
assure prospective buyers that their investment and
residence would be secure, both neighborhoods were among
the first in Tucson to have recorded deed restrictions.
The first area in Tucson to have deed restrictions was
University Manor, east of the University of Arizona
(Barrow, 1986), now considered part of the Sam Hughes
neighborhood. Lot size was also similar in the two new
developments: both featured large residential 1lots,
architectural review, and park areas.

The site plans of both subdivisions also differed
Significantly from the established gridiron layout of
other Tucson residential areas. The plan of El Encanto
(Figure 2) was "prepared by the Engineering Service
Corporation of Los Angeles, California. It is the only
known historic subdivision plan in Arizona modeled after
Baroque land use patterns...characterized by the
interpenetration of oval spaces, curved surfaces and

conspicuous use of decoration" (El Encanto 7:6).
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The plant materials in El1 Encanto accentuated the
formality of the site plan. The central circle contains a
collection of 157 saguaro cacti and other native plants.
The layout of the concentric streets was reinforced by
lining them with two different kinds of palm trees,
reflecting a California influence. Mexican fan palms
ringed the circular park in the center of the
neighborhood, and date palms lined the remaining
concentric oval streets (El Encanto 7:7).

In definite contrast to the formal, geometric site
plan of El Encanto Estates was Colonia Solana neighborhood
(Figure 3), developed in 1928, a year earlier than El
Encanto. Located just east across Country Club Boulevard
from the (then) Tucson Golf and Country Club, and north of
what was already city-owned Randolph Park, Colonia Solana
was less than a half mile southwest of the site for the
new E]l Conquistador Hotel, and directly south of what, a
year later, would become El1 Encanto Estates (Fiqure 1).

It is more than coincidental that both of these
upscale subdivisions opened within a year of each other,
and both less than half a mile from the two prestigious
institutions, the Tucson Golf and Countzry Club and El
Congquistador Hotel. The remalnder of thls paper will
focus on the unigue cubdivision, Colonia Solana, and its

designer, landscape architect Stephen Chilad.
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NOTES TO CHAPTER 1

1. In "Luring the Tourist to Tucson" (p. 138}, Alex
Kimmelman notes that the Tucson Sunshine Climate Club
commissioned the H. K. McCann Agency of Los Angeles to
direct its advertising campaign, patterned after that used
for San Diego. The author observed the same pattern being
used in the Santa Barbara area, 1908-1913, as reported in
the Santa Barbara Morning Press.

2. In "Luring the Tourist to Tucson" (p. 153), Kimmelman
notes the major organizers of the Tucson Rodeo. Among
them was Ed Vander Vries, representing the Kiwanis Club.
By 1928, Vander Vries appears to have been one of the
primary forces behind the develcpment of Colonia Solana

neighborhood.
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CHAPTER I1I
COLONIA SOLANA

Tucson Citizen, March 16, 1928;:
"STEPHEN CHILD WILL SPEAK AT REALTY DINNER; New
Subdivision Will Be Revealed During Feast Tonight"

Arizona Daily Star, March 17, 1928: "'Colonia Solana'
Announced With Dinner Dance at Club; 125 Guests of Tucson
Realty Told of Opening of Exclusive Residential
District..."

Arizona Daily Starx, February 20, 1937:
"COLONIA SOLANA IS SUBDIVISION OF FINE HOMES; Winding
Streets, Lots of More Than Acre Each Among Attractions"

Tucson Citizen, November 2, 1978: "Residents Fighting
to Save a 'Little Island' on Broadway"

Arizona Republic, July 6, 1986: "“Tucson Arroyo Plays
Counterpart to Walden Pond"

The above headlines, taken from Tucson newspapers over
a period of fifty years, are a testament to the lasting
value of Colonia Solana as a residential area in Tucson.
Like its "twin" to the north, El Encanto, Colonia Solana
has retained its prestige and property value. Unlike El
Encanto, whose formal site plan was superimposed on the
land, and could therefore have been platted nearly
anywhere, Colonla Solana was designed in a very
site~-specific way. Responding to both the natural
topography and to native vegetation were the essence of
its original design intent.

Some discrepancies exist regarding the question of who
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were the original developers of Colonia Solana, which
raise questions about whose ideas were actually
implemented in the design of the neighborhood. Although
Harry Bryant appears to be commonly accepted as the owner
or developer of Colonia Solana (Comey, 1988),
recently-discovered evidence also points to the
involvement of Edward Van der Vries. These gquestions are
further complicated by trying to determine whether Harry
Bryant, president of Country Club Realty, was the
original developer, or whether Ed Van der Vries, the
president of Tucson Realfy, helped Bryant to form a
subsidiary organization for the purpose of marketing
Colonia Solana lots. This is the theory supported by Bill
Barrow, formerly with Tucson Realty and Trust, and author
of several articles on historic Tucson subdivisions (W.
C. Barrow, 1986). These points are discussed more fully
in the Appendix.

Fortunately for historians, the designer, landscape
architect Stephen Child, outlined his design
conslderations in a 1928 article for Landscape
Architecture. 1In examining Colonia Solana in 1990, it is
important to review the designer's original intent, to see
how well his design has stood the test of time. It will
be demonstrated later in this paper that not only has

Stephen Child's original intent been preserved to a
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remarkable degree, but also that the man himself, because
of his training in landscape architecture, demonstrated a
unique sensitivity to the natural conditions which he used

as the basis for the design.

COLONIA SOLANA: ORIGINAL INTENT
0f course if you have a dead flat piece of ground and
there is nothing existing or predictable to make
roads go one way or anothex, then the cheapest scheme
to plot and lay out and describe and construct and
sell is a 'gridiron' of straight roads, and
rectangular lots, though this Is not saying that its
appearance will be interesting (Child, 1928).

He does this in his characteristically polite, almost

Victorian, manner, as a way to set the stage for

topography as one of the central considerations in this

project.

Site Analysis

As Child notes, "acres and acres of...desert had been
'gridironed' to make Tucson", in response to the "dead
flat plece of ground" that formed the Tucson valley.
Although he acknowledges that this may be the "cheapest
scheme" to follow, he does not conclude that "its
appearance will be interesting." 1In this project, his
clients wanted something interesting, and Child was

therefore called upon.
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He then proceeds to describe the regional setting of
Tucson, "the City of the 'Sunshine Climate', now becoming
so well known as a health and pleasure resort".
Characterizing Tucson as an "casis", Child notes in some
detail the "high mountains, incomparably beautiful,
especially at morning and evening."

This is followed by a description of the specific
location of the project. Here he mentions the Country
Club, "El Conquistador, a modern Tourist Hotel", and the
three-guarters of a section that comprise the City Park.
The remaining quarter-section is destined to become
Colonia Solana. Brief attention is given to the remaining
constraints: that "at least an acre is to be set aside for
each one of the proposed villa homes, which are to cost
not less than $10,000 each." The final paragraph of the
introductory section consists of a short description of
the topography and vegetation of the site. Child
concludes that “"One can hardly imagine any layout of
streets that would have entailed unsurmountable grading
problemg." The problem was to make this "dead flat piece

of ground" into something interesting.

Design
The problem-solving (design) phase began with the

analysis of the "inevitable topographical survey"
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(Figure 4), which "revealed one fairly important arroyo or
'wash'...and two other even lesser 'washes'". Child
concluded that these washes could easily have been filled
up and ignored: "this is in fact what has usually been
done". 1Instead, he chose to view these topographical
constraints as opportunities, using them to influence the
design.

Natural features became the focus of the neighborhood.
Using the topography as & guide, Child made the main
arroyo the "keynote of the Parkway". He set aside "a
strip having a total width of 250 feet", running the
entire half mile length of the arroyo as it cut through
the subdivision. From this he allowed 50 feet on both the
north and south sides of the arroyo to become "the
necessary footpaths, the more formal planting spaces, and
the roadway". As he notes, "there remains a strip half a
mile long and 150 feet wide, which is to become one of the
most important and distinctive features of the
subdivision--Arroyo Chico Parque".

The two lesser washes also were used in the design.
They became curving roads, which intersected w}th the main
Arroyo, maintaining the natural drainage pattern. Where
the smaller washes/roads crossed Arroyo Chico Parque,
Child made use of "the very interesting and characteristic

'Arizona dips', quite generally employed in the country






